IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE	NO.	
------	-----	--

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. Todd Doss Florida Bar No. 0910384 725 Southeast Baya Drive Suite 102 Lake City, FL 32025 (386) 755-9119

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's orders summarily denying Mr. Johnston's successive Rule 3.851 motion, Rule 3.853 motion and motion for forensic testing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Mr. Johnston was indicted on December 12, 1983 by an Orange County grand jury for the first-degree murder of Mary Hammond (hereinafter "the victim").

Mr. Johnston, thereafter, was tried and convicted. A penalty phase was conducted on May 29, 1984, during which the jury recommended a death sentence by an eight to four vote. On June 1, 1984, the trial court imposed a death sentence, finding three aggravating circumstances. Although it found mitigating factors, the trial court found the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and sentenced Mr. Johnston to death (R. 2412-2415). On direct appeal this Court affirmed Mr. Johnston's convictions and sentences.

On October 28, 1988, a death warrant was signed, the execution of which was ultimately stayed subsequent to the filing of Mr. Johnston's first motion to vacate judgment and sentence.

After an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied all

¹ (1) prior violent felony conviction; (2) offense committed during the commission of an enumerated felony; and (3) the offense was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (R. 2412-2415).

² The trial court found Mr. Johnston was the product of a broken home; he was abused; he was neglected and rejected by his natural mother; he was physically abused by his father; he was greatly affected by his father's death; he has a very low I.Q. and did not do well in school; and he was mentally disturbed (R. 2412-2415).

relief. The denial was appealed to this Court, which affirmed the circuit court's decision. <u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1991).

Mr. Johnston next filed a federal habeas petition and on September 16, 1993, the federal district court granted Mr. Johnston habeas corpus relief and ordered the state of Florida to either (1) impose a life sentence; (2) conduct a new penalty phase proceeding before a newly empaneled jury; or (3) obtain an appellate re-weighing or harmless-error analysis. This Court conducted a harmless-error analysis and thereafter reimposed a death sentence. Johnston v. Dugger, 583 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1991). The federal district court subsequently denied all relief.

In the interim Mr. Johnston filed his first successive motion to vacate judgment and sentence in the circuit court. The circuit court denied relief, finding the claims time-barred and, alternatively, an abuse of process. This Court thereafter affirmed the circuit court and also denied Mr. Johnston's habeas petition. Johnston v. State, 708 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 1998).

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals subsequently ruled on Mr. Johnston's appeal from the denial of his habeas petition in federal district court and denied all relief. Johnston v.

³ A petition for writ of certiorari was filed in the United States Supreme Court, which denied the petition on February 27, 1995.

Singletary, 162 F.3d 630 (11th Cir. 1998).

Mr. Johnston subsequently filed a third state habeas petition wherein he claimed this Court applied an incorrect standard of review in its 1991 opinion (<u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1991)). This Court denied relief. <u>Johnston v.</u> Moore, 789 So.2d 262 (Fla. 2001).

Subsequently, Mr. Johnston filed his third motion to vacate judgment and sentence wherein he claimed the Florida capital sentencing scheme was unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona, and that the State of Florida was barred from executing him under Atkins v. Virginia due to his mental retardation. The circuit court denied relief and this Court affirmed. Johnston v. State, 960 So.2d 757 (Fla. 2006).

On April 20, 2009, the Governor signed a warrant scheduling Mr. Johnston's execution. Mr. Johnston filed a Rule 3.851 postconviction motion on May 6, 2009. The circuit court denied relief on May 9, 2009. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Johnston's motion for postconviction DNA testing. Contrary to the trial court's determination, there can be no doubt that DNA testing could exonerate Mr. Johnston. There were no eyewitnesses to the crime nor did Mr. Johnston confess to the murder. There was no fingerprint evidence connecting Mr. Johnston to the crime.

Clearly, the presence of blood on Mr. Johnston was the primary factor in obtaining a conviction. The absence of his DNA under the victim's fingernails combined with the absence of the victim's blood on Mr. Johnston would establish his innocence.

- 2. Newly discovered evidence has revealed that Mr.

 Johnston was convicted based on infirm forensic evidence in violation of the Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.
- 3. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Johnston's request for forensic testing resulting in a violation of Mr. Johnston's rights to due process under both the U.S. and Florida Constitutions.
- 4. The clemency process and the manner in which it was determined that Mr. Johnston should receive a death warrant on April 20, 2009, was arbitrary and capricious and in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 5. Mr. Johnston is exempt from execution under the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution because he suffers from such severe mental illness that death can never be an appropriate punishment. Mr. Johnston's severe mental illness places him within the class of defendants, like those who were under the age of eighteen at the time of the crime and those with mental retardation, who are categorically excluded from being eligible for the death penalty.

- 6. Because of the inordinate length of time that Mr. Johnston has spent on death row, adding his execution to that punishment would constitute cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as binding norms of international law.
- 7. The trial court's decision to place Mr. Johnston in shackles during trial violated the Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The claims presented in this appeal are constitutional issues involving mixed questions of law and fact and are reviewed de novo, giving deference only to the trial court's factfindings. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999); State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001).

Additionally, the lower court denied an evidentiary hearing, and therefore the facts presented in this appeal must be taken as true. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999).

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. JOHNSTON'S RULE 3.853 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION DNA TESTING.

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853, Mr. Johnston filed a motion for postconviction DNA testing before the circuit court.

The motion asserted that:

The only scientific evidence linking Mr. Johnston to the crime was the presence of blood on him. The State emphasized this evidence throughout Mr. Johnston's trial. Officer Stickley testified that when she interviewed Mr. Johnston at the crime scene, she noticed a red stain on his right tennis shoe and red dots on his right bicep (T. 498). Officer Kenneth Roberts testified that he observed brown colored splatters on Mr. Johnston's tennis shoe, socks and arm, which appeared to be blood (T. 507). Officer Candalaria testified that he observed speckles of blood on Mr. Johnston's left bicep, his left leg, his socks, and his shoe laces (T. 527-28). Investigator Richard Dupuis testified that he was asked by other officers to look at Mr. Johnston's clothing and render an opinion as to whether there were any bloodstains on the clothing (T. 538). After explaining the concept of bloodstain analysis to the jury, Dupuis stated the he observed a reddish stain on Mr. Johnston's right sock and that the stain projected in a downward motion. also observed a dark stain on Mr. Johnston's shoes, as well as a single red stain on the groin area of his shorts (T. 540). Dupuis then opined, based on his experience and training, that the stains appeared to be He also opined that the clothing was a target for the blood, explaining that the blood was either projected or cast off something else and then came into contact with Mr. Johnston's clothing (T. 541). Dupuis further stated that the blood was in motion when it came into contact with the clothing since it was not a smear type pattern (T. 542). Officer Ostermeyer testified that he took into evidence Mr. Johnston's Additionally, he ran a presumptive blood clothing. test on the stains on the clothing; the test was positive for blood (T. 641-44). Reactions to the Luminol were also observed on the back of Mr. Johnston's shirt, his sleeves, his waistband, the front of his shorts, the back pocket area of his shorts, and his right tennis shoe (T. 648). Investigator Mundy testified that during an interview with Mr. Johnston, he noticed a couple of red stains on his clothing (T. Forensic serologist Keith Paul testified that he 780). tested Mr. Johnston's clothing for the presence of blood and determined that there was human blood present on the stretchband of Mr. Johnston's shorts (T. 854). Paul also conducted tests on the stains found on Mr.

Johnston's tennis shoes and determined that the stains were human blood (T. 867). Additionally, Paul indicated that there appeared to be minute quantities of blood on submitted fingernails, but he conducted no tests because the amount was insufficient for testing purposes (T. 879).

- ¹ The basis for Dupuis' expertise was that he had attended several seminars relating to bloodstains (T. 538-39).
- Mr. Johnston is innocent of the murder in the instant case. The evidence utilized in convicting him was largely circumstantial. There were no eyewitnesses to the crime nor did Mr. Johnston confess to the murder. There was no fingerprint evidence connecting Mr. Johnston to the crime.³ Additionally, it was Mr. Johnston who called 911 upon finding the victim, who informed the victim's granddaughter of what had occurred, and who stayed until the police arrived and made a full report as to how he came to find the victim. Clearly, the presence of blood on Mr. Johnston was the primary factor in obtaining a conviction. DNA testing were to reveal that the purported blood on Mr. Johnston did not belong to the victim, he would be exonerated of the crime.
 - ² Mr. Johnston has always maintained his innocence.
 - ³ There were, however, fingerprints from other individuals on the items tested by the State.
- 3. The specific evidence Mr. Johnston seeks to be tested is as follows:
 - a. Mr. Johnston's tennis shoes;
 - b. Mr. Johnston's socks;
 - c. Mr. Johnston's shorts;
 - d. Fingernail clippings.4

⁴Undersigned counsel orally amended the motion to include hair and debris folds currently held by the Orlando Police

- 4. The aforementioned evidence in this case was not previously tested for DNA.
- 5. The last known location for the evidence was the Orlando Police Department. The evidence was originally obtained by the Orlando Police Department during its investigation of this case.

(May 6, 2009 Rule 3.853 Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing).

In its order denying Mr. Johnston's motion, the circuit court stated:

To be entitled to DNA testing, Mr. Johnston must be able to demonstrate that the test results would exonerate him or mitigate the sentence he received. See Rule 3.853(b)(3) and (4). However, he fails to establish that the testing would exonerate him even if the results showed that the blood did not belong to the victim and the material under the victim's fingernails did not belong to him.

During his January 24, 1984 statement to police, Mr. Johnston admitted holding the victim's body. Therefore, it was reasonable to expect her blood to be on his clothing, and the issue at trial was not whose blood it was but how it got there. Furthermore, there was other incriminating evidence against Defendant, including scratches on his face, discrepancies in his various statements, the discovery of his bloodstained watch on a bathroom counter in the victim's house, and the fact that a butterfly pendant he was seen wearing was entangled in the victim's hair. Additionally, Mr. Johnston admitted taking personal items from the victim's house, allegedly as a memento of the victim.

Based upon the totality of the evidence presented at trial against Mr. Johnston, this Court therefore concludes that even if the results of DNA testing were to show that the blood on Mr. Johnston's clothes did not belong to the victim and the material under the victim's fingernails did not belong to him, there is no reasonable probability this result would exonerate him of the crime.

Department as evidence to be examined and tested.

(May 8, 2009 Order Denying Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing, at 2)(footnotes omitted).

Mr. Johnston submits that the circuit court's finding, that there is no reasonable probability that DNA testing could exonerate him of the crime, is erroneous. First, the circuit court relied on the fact that Mr. Johnston at one point admitted to the police that he held the victim's body, thus it was reasonable to expect there to be blood on him. However, the circuit court ignores the fact that Mr. Johnston is mentally ill, that he was recognized as such at the time of trial, and thus his many contradictory statements to the police are simply

Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986) (emphasis added).

⁵Among other mental issues, Mr. Johnston has been diagnosed as suffering from schizophrenia (R. 1140, 1178).

⁶On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Johnston's <u>Faretta</u> claim, stating,

The trial judge made the proper inquiry in this case and correctly concluded that the desired waiver of counsel was neither knowing nor intelligent, in part, because of Johnston's mental condition. In fact the court's order denying Johnston's motion for self-representation and counsel's motion to withdraw specifically cited Johnston's age, education, and reports of psychiatrist and past admissions into mental hospitals. Clearly, the trial court was correct in concluding that Johnston would not receive a fair trial without assistance of counsel.

unreliable. Here, the circuit court has erroneously decided to rely on one of many contradictory statements of a mentally ill individual rather than order scientific testing which could conclusively demonstrate whether the blood on Mr. Johnston belonged to the victim, and whether the scrapings under the victim's fingernails match the DNA of Mr. Johnston.

Additionally, the circuit court's determination that there is other incriminating evidence does not negate the fact that DNA testing could exonerate Mr. Johnston. For example, the circuit court relies on the fact that Mr. Johnston had scratches on his face. But it ignores the fact that DNA testing of the scrapings from the victim's fingernails could establish that the scratches didn't come from the victim. Further, as has been discussed

 $^{^{7}}$ In one statement to the police, Mr. Johnston related that he did not touch the victim (T. 494). In another statement, he did touch the victim (T. 823). In one statement to the police, Mr. Johnston related that the victim was dead when he found her (T. 494). In another statement, she was alive and appeared to be trying to speak to him (T. 845).

⁸In recent years, there have been multiple instances where DNA evidence has been utilized to exonerate a convicted mentally ill defendant. In 2007, a schizophrenic named Anthony Capozzi was exonerated through DNA testing after spending 22 years in prison for rape.

⁹Moreover, the circuit court's logic is flawed. While the circuit court has chosen to accept certain statements by Mr. Johnston as true, the court ignores other statement favorable to Mr. Johnston, such as the fact that he was emphatically consistent in his denial of the victim's murder (T. 845).

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{Mr}$. Johnston stated at one point that he got the scratches from his puppy.

above, the court's reliance on the discrepancies in Mr.

Johnston's statements simply verifies that DNA testing should be valued above the rants of a schizophrenic. 11

Additionally, the circuit court's reliance on the wristwatch and butterfly necklace found at the scene is suspect. Again, in typical fashion, Mr. Johnston at various times claimed ownership of the necklace (T. 2346)¹², and at other times denied ownership of it (T. 2337). Likewise, Mr. Johnston claimed and disclaimed ownership of the watch (T. 2336, 2346, 2348).

There can be no doubt that DNA testing could exonerate Mr. Johnston. There were no eyewitnesses to the crime nor did Mr. Johnston confess to the murder. There was no fingerprint evidence connecting Mr. Johnston to the crime. 13 Clearly, the presence of blood on Mr. Johnston was the primary factor in obtaining a conviction. The absence of his DNA under the victim's fingernails combined with the absence of the victim's blood on Mr. Johnston would establish his innocence and would demonstrate that Mr. Johnston's inconsistent rants are nothing more than that. Mr. Johnston submits that this case should be

¹¹Certainly, the court didn't take at face value Mr. Johnston's prior claim that he had been attacked by Judge Powell in chambers following his evidentiary hearing.

 $^{^{12}\}mathrm{At}$ one point, Mr. Johnson stated that he gave the necklace to the victim (R. 2353).

¹³There were, however, fingerprints from other individuals on the items tested by the State.

remanded for DNA testing in accordance with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853.

ARGUMENT II

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE HAS REVEALED THAT MR. JOHNSTON WAS CONVICTED BASED UPON INFIRM FORENSIC EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION.

"Over the last two decades, advances in some forensic science disciplines, especially the use of DNA technology, have demonstrated that some areas of forensic science have great potential to help law enforcement identify criminals. Many crimes that may have gone unsolved are now being solved because forensic science is helping identify the perpetrators.

Those advances, however, also have revealed that, in some cases, substantive information and testimony based on faulty forensic science analyses may have contributed to wrongful convictions of innocent people. This fact has demonstrated the potential danger of giving undue weight to evidence and testimony derived from imperfect testing and analysis. Morever, imprecise or exaggerated expert testimony has sometimes contributed to the admission of erroneous or misleading evidence.

Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward (free Executive Summary), S-3,

http://www.nap.edu/catalog/12589.html, last viewed May 5, 2009.

The preceding admonition was recently released February 18, 2009 in the executive summary of the pending report produced by the National Academy of Sciences after conducting a study on forensic sciences as directed by the U.S. Congress. The study panel consisted of members of the forensic science community, members of the legal community, and a diverse group of

scientists. "Experts who provided testimony included federal agency officials; academics and research scholars; private consultants; federal state and local law enforcement officials; scientists; medical examiners; a coroner; crime laboratory officials from the public and private sectors; independent investigators; defense attorneys; forensic science practitioners; and leadership of professional and standard setting organizations." (internal citations omitted) Id. at S-2.

The end product of the Committee's painstakingly thorough work was a comprehensive report. This report first became available when released by the Committee on Identifying the Needs of the Forensic Sciences Community on February 18, 2009. final report constitutes newly discovered evidence that the "scientific" evidence used to convict Mr. Johnston is the result of methods with questionable and untested underlying scientific principles, in violation of Mr. Johnston's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. This Court has recognized that "reports" issued by governmental or other bodies that affect the integrity of a defendant's trial or penalty phase can constitute newly discovered evidence. See, Trepal v. State, 846 So.2d, 405, 409-410 (Fla. 2003) (relinquishing jurisdiction for defendant to file a new successive motion to vacate judgment and sentence based on the newly discovered information in the report released by Office of the Inspector General, U.S. Dept. Of Justice, The FBI

Laboratory: An Investigation into Laboratory Practices and

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