IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-839

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX-(386)226-0457

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

underpinnings of *Harbison* have not been met. Johnston has not had to “navigate the clemency process from his jail cell.” He has had full review of his case, and clemency was, quite rightly, denied. On page 32 of his brief, Johnston says that “collateral counsel was precluded from seeking clemency” until *Harbison* was decided. That argument makes no sense for two reasons. First, Johnston has already had a clemency proceeding in which he was represented by counsel. Second, the claim raised in the circuit court was not whether Johnston’s **post-conviction counsel** could represent him in a clemency proceeding. Johnston made no mention of any issue related to Chapter 27 of the *Florida Statutes* in his successive motion, and cannot raise such a claim for the first time on appeal from the denial of relief. If that is the claim now advanced on appeal, that claim is raised for the first time here, and is procedurally barred. *Harbison* has no impact on this case.

In alternatively denying relief on the merits, the circuit court held:

In *Bundy v. State*, 497 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1986), the Florida Supreme Court rejected Bundy’s assertion that he was entitled to time to prepare and present an application of clemency before execution, explaining:

[I]t is not our prerogative to second-guess the application of this exclusive executive function. First, the principle of separation of powers requires the judiciary to adopt an extremely cautious approach in analyzing questions involving this admitted

matter of executive grace. As noted in *In re Advisory Opinion of the Governor*, 334 So.2d 561, 562-63 (Fla. 1976), "[t]his Court has always viewed the pardon powers expressed in the Constitution as being peculiarly within the domain of the executive branch of government."

Id. at 1211 (some citations omitted). See *Marek v. State*, SC09-765 (Fla. May 8, 2009).

Mr. Johnston has not presented any reason that this Court should depart from this precedent. Accordingly, this claim is denied.

Order, at 11. This claim is meritless in addition to being procedurally barred -- relief was properly denied on both grounds, which are independently adequate grounds for the denial of relief. The circuit court's ruling should not be disturbed.

V. THE "MENTAL ILLNESS" CLAIM

On pages 35-46 of his brief, Johnston claims that he is "exempt from execution" because he suffers from "severe mental illness." **Johnston does not claim that he meets the *Ford v. Wainwright* standard of incompetence for execution, as the circuit court found.** *Order*, at 4-5. (In other words, this is not a *Ford* claim at all). Johnston's claim is a freestanding claim that his self-described "severe mental illness" is a bar to execution on equal constitutional footing with mental retardation or age. The circuit court summarily denied relief, and that ruling, which is supported by competent substantial

evidence, should not be disturbed. *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998).

This claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal or in any of Johnston's prior state post-conviction relief motions. That is a procedural bar under settled Florida law, and the circuit court correctly denied relief on that basis. Rule 3.850(f), *Fla. R. Crim. P. Order*, at 3. That result is correct, and should not be disturbed.¹⁵

Moreover, this claim is untimely because it is based, **by Johnston's own admission**, on matters that have been known and available since prior to trial. *See, Motion*, at 5, para. 3.¹⁶ Because that is so, this claim is untimely, and should be denied on that basis as well. Rule 3.851(d), *Fla. R. Crim. P.*

Alternatively, this claim lacks merit, as the circuit court found. *Order*, at 3-4.¹⁷ This Court has upheld summary denial of this claim, stating:

Indeed, his allegations refer to testimony regarding his mental illness presented at the 2001

¹⁵ Johnston's brief does not acknowledge the procedural bars or explain how the circuit court was wrong in applying them.

¹⁶ As support for this claim, Johnston relies on mental state testimony that was presented at his 1989 evidentiary hearing. Nothing from the most recent mental examination is any more than a re-packaging of the testimony produced years ago. That establishes the untimeliness of this claim.

¹⁷ The circuit court relied on *Power. Order*, at 4-5.

evidentiary hearing for his initial postconviction motion. We hold, therefore, that the circuit court did not err in summarily denying this claim as untimely.

In an abundance of caution, we also note that we have previously determined that Power's claim has no merit. In *Diaz*, the defendant cited ABA Resolution 122A, arguing that his personality disorders were sufficiently akin to being mentally retarded so as to exempt him from execution. 945 So. 2d at 1151. We held:

[N]either this Court nor the Supreme Court has recognized mental illness as a *per se* bar to execution. Instead, mental illness can be considered as either a statutory mental mitigating circumstance if it meets that definition (*i.e.*, the crime was committed while the defendant "was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance") or a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. See § 921.141(6), Fla. Stat. (2006). Such mental mitigation is one of the factors to be considered and weighed by the court in imposing a sentence.

Id.

Although *Diaz* was not able to show that he suffered from mental illness, we held that "even if he could, this would not automatically exempt him from execution as there is currently no *per se* 'mental illness' bar to execution." *Id.* at 1152; see also *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852, 867 (Fla. 2007) ("To the extent that Connor is arguing that he cannot be executed because of mental conditions that are not insanity or mental retardation, the issue has been resolved adversely to his position." (*citing Diaz*, 945 So. 2d at 1151)). We reaffirm our previous declaration in *Diaz* and hold that the existence of mental illness standing alone does not automatically exempt Power from execution. [FN4]

[FN4] To the extent that Power alleges that his mental illness renders him incompetent to be executed, this claim is not yet ripe, as he was told in his initial

postconviction appeal. *Power II*, 886 So. 2d at 958; see also *Barnhill v. State*, 971 So. 2d 106, 118 (Fla. 2007); *Coney*, 845 So. 2d at 137 n.19; *Jones v. State*, 845 So. 2d 55, 74 (Fla. 2003); *Hall v. Moore*, 792 So. 2d 447, 450 (Fla. 2001).

Power v. State, 992 So. 2d 218, 222 (Fla. 2008). (emphasis added).¹⁸ The circuit court properly applied settled Florida law and denied relief on the alternative grounds of lack of merit. That alternate basis for denial of relief is likewise correct. This claim was properly denied on procedural bar and untimeliness grounds, and, alternatively and secondarily, the alternate merits ruling is also correct under settled law. This claim is not a basis for relief.

VI. THE "TIME ON DEATH ROW" CLAIM

On pages 46-55 of his brief, Johnston claims that he should be exempted from execution because of the time that he has spent incarcerated. This claim could have been but was not raised in any of his prior post-conviction relief motions, and is procedurally barred for that reason.¹⁹ Summary denial of this claim was appropriate.

¹⁸ Johnston has not made such a claim under *Ford*.

¹⁹ Under settled law, this claim is subject to procedural bars, just like any other claim. See, *Elledge v. State*, 911 So. 2d 57, 77 (Fla. 2005) ("Elledge's contention that his now thirty-one-year stay on death row violates international law is procedurally barred as it could have but was not raised on direct appeal and is also meritless. See *Knight*, 746 So. 2d at 437 (summarily denying the claim that Florida had forfeited its

Alternatively and secondarily, summary denial of this claim was proper under controlling Florida law. As this Court has held:

Tompkins's next claim is that Governor Bush's failure to reset his execution in 2004 resulted in Tompkins remaining on death row for such a prolonged period of time, twenty-three years, that it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment. **We reject this claim as we have repeatedly done in the past.** In *Booker v. State*, 969 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 2007), this Court recognized that "no federal or state court has accepted the argument that a prolonged stay on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, especially where both parties bear responsibility for the long delay." *Id.* at 200; see also *Gore v. State*, 964 So. 2d 1257, 1276 (Fla. 2007) (holding that twenty-three years served on death row is not cruel and unusual punishment), *cert. denied*, 128 S. Ct. 1250, 170 L. Ed. 2d 89 (2008); *Elledge v. State*, 911 So. 2d 57, 76 (Fla. 2005) (finding no merit in constitutional claim predicated on the cruel and unusual nature of prolonged stay on death row); *Lucas v. State*, 841 So. 2d 380, 389 (Fla. 2003) (concluding that twenty-five years on death row does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment); *Foster v. State*, 810 So. 2d 910, 916 (Fla. 2002) (holding that twenty-three years on death row is not cruel and unusual punishment).

Further, Tompkins contributed to the delay of his execution by filing five postconviction motions. **He cannot now contend that his punishment has been illegally prolonged because the delay in carrying out his sentence is in large part due to his own actions in challenging his conviction and sentence.** As explained by this Court in *Lucas*:

In the twenty-five years since he was first found guilty of the murder of Jill

right to execute Knight under binding norms of international law).") Johnston ignores the procedural bar, and does not attempt to explain why it was not properly found by the lower court.

Piper, Lucas has exercised his constitutional rights in challenging both the finding of guilt and his death sentence. The finding of guilt was upheld in his first direct appeal in 1979 and was not challenged in any of the subsequent appeals. Lucas is clearly guilty of the murder of Jill Piper, and it has been determined that the proper sentence is death. Lucas's exercise of his constitutional rights has prevented his sentence from being carried out. Lucas may not now claim that his punishment has been cruel and unusual as a result of his own actions in challenging his death sentence. Lucas's claim that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this issue is without merit and is denied.

841 So. 2d at 389.

Accordingly, in light of this Court's precedent, we conclude that the trial court did not err in summarily denying Tompkins's claim that his twenty-three years on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1085 (Fla. 2008)

(emphasis added). Likewise:

Gore argues that his twenty-three years served on death row is cruel and unusual punishment, and violates both the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. This Court has consistently rejected the argument that serving time on death row is cruel and unusual punishment, regardless of the time served. See *Lucas v. State*, 841 So. 2d 380, 389 (Fla. 2003) (holding that over twenty-five years on death row is not cruel and unusual punishment); *Foster v. State*, 810 So. 2d 910, 916 (Fla. 2002) (holding that twenty-three years on death row is not cruel and unusual punishment). **Gore's exercise of his constitutional rights through the appeal and postconviction process has prevented his death sentence from being executed, so he may not claim a constitutional violation due to his length of time on death row.** See *Knight v. State*, 746 So. 2d

423, 437 (Fla. 1998) ("**[N]o federal or state courts have accepted [the] argument that a prolonged stay on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, especially where both parties bear responsibility for the long delay.**"). Therefore, Gore's claim is without merit.

Gore v. State, 964 So. 2d 1257, 1276 (Fla. 2007) (emphasis added). This claim is meritless in addition to being procedurally barred, and the circuit court properly denied relief on those grounds. *Order*, at 7-8.²⁰

Finally, as the circuit court noted, Johnston's case has been in virtually constant litigation since the direct appeal was concluded in 1986.²¹ This is Johnston's second death warrant and his sixth post-conviction proceeding. As the Florida Supreme Court said in *Tompkins*: "*Tompkins contributed to the delay of his execution by filing five postconviction motions. **He cannot now contend that his punishment has been illegally prolonged because the delay in carrying out his sentence is in large part due to his own actions in challenging his conviction and***"

²⁰ To the extent that Johnston raises an "international law" component, that claim is meritless, too, in addition to the procedural bar which forecloses review. *Knight v. State*, 746 So. 2d 423, 437 (Fla. 1998) ("We similarly reject Knight's claim under international law.")

²¹ The circuit court pointed out that Johnston has filed five prior post-conviction motions in addition to various federal proceedings, and said, "[w]hile it is his absolute right to file such challenges, the Court is obliged to conclude that the delay in carrying out the sentence is attributable in large part to the continuous litigation." *Order*, at 8.

sentence." *Tompkins v. State*, 994 So. 2d at 1085. The circuit court's denial of relief is supported by competent substantial evidence and should not be disturbed.²²

VII. THE "SHACKLING" CLAIM

On pages 55-59 of his brief, Johnston claims that he is entitled to relief because he was "shackled" in violation of *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 2009 (2005). This claim is procedurally barred because it was raised and rejected on direct appeal. *Johnston v. State*, 497 So. 2d 863, 965-66 (Fla. 1986); *Order*, at 6. Moreover, this claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised in any of Johnston's prior post-conviction relief motions.²³

²² See, *Thompson v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corr.*, 517 F.3d 1279, 1284 (11th Cir. Fla. 2008) ("Numerous other federal and state courts have rejected *Lackey* claims. *Allen v. Ornoski*, 435 F.3d 946, 959 (9th Cir. 2006), *cert. denied*, 126 S. Ct. 1140, 546 U.S. 1136, 163 L. Ed. 2d 944 (2006) (citing cases); see, e.g., *Chambers v. Bowersox*, 157 F.3d 560, 568, 570 (8th Cir. 1998) (noting that death row delays do not constitute cruel and unusual punishment because delay results from the "desire of our courts, state and federal, to get it right, to explore . . . any argument that might save someone's life"); *White v. Johnson*, 79 F.3d 432, 439 (5th Cir. 1996) ("The state's interest in deterrence and swift punishment must compete with its interest in insuring that those who are executed receive fair trials with constitutionally mandated safeguards. . . . White has benefitted from this careful and meticulous process and cannot now complain that the expensive and laborious process of habeas corpus appeals which exists to protect him has violated other of his rights.").

²³ On page 59 of his brief, Johnston says that the circuit court "ignores the fact that [he] was denied the opportunity to prove

Further, *Deck* was released in May of 2005, and could have been raised at the time of Johnston's prior proceedings. And, as the circuit court pointed out, this claim is not one of "newly discovered evidence" since it was litigated on direct appeal. *Order*, at 6. As the circuit court also found, this claim is insufficiently pleaded because Johnston does not allege that he was actually seen in restraints by one or more jurors, **only that he might have been**. That is insufficient to plead a claim of any sort, and is an additional basis for summary denial of relief. *Order*, at 6.

In any event, *Deck* is not retroactively available to Johnston,²⁴ and does not amount to "fundamental error" such that the procedural bars can be ignored. *England v. State* 940 So. 2d 389, 404 (Fla. 2006); *Gore v. State*, 846 So. 2d 461, 471 (Fla. 2003). This claim should be denied as procedurally barred under settled Florida law:

Hill next claims that his constitutional rights were violated when he and his codefendant, Clifford Jackson, were shackled during the penalty phase. The trial court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred. First, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that Hill was ever shackled during the penalty phase. Second, this claim is certainly not based upon

his claim." In fact, it is Johnston who has ignored the multiple layer of procedural bar that forecloses review of this claim.

²⁴ For federal habeas purposes, *Deck* is not retroactively applicable to final cases like this one. *Marquard v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corr.*, 429 F.3d 1278, 1311 (11th Cir. 2005). There is no reason for Florida retroactivity law to be different.

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